
Capsule Summary 

Inventory No.WA-II-120 
Hitts Mill, Pry's Mill Complex NR District 
18932-18947 Keedysville Road 
Keedysville 
Washington County, MD 
Ca. 1790 (Main house); ca. 1850 (mill); ca. 1830 (miller's house, bam, smoke house, limekilns) 
Access: Private 

This MEHP form updates the National Register nomination document from 1976 and individual 

survey forms for component resources in the "Hitts Mill and Houses" National Register Historic 

District (Hitt House, WA-n-252; Hitt's Mill, WA-II-120). The complex lies along Keedysville 

Road and the Antietam Creek at the confluence with the Little Antietam Creek, approximately 

Vi mile northwest of Keedysville. This current documentation focuses upon the industrial 

character of the district. The district consists of a mid 19'*̂  century brick flour mill resting on 

stone foundations from a previous early 19"' century mill that apparently burned, now converted 

to a residence; a timber frame late 18"̂  century manor house with a log addition; a two-part log 

secondary house dating from the early to mid 19' century; a timber frame Swisser (bank) bam 

converted to a residence; a log smoke house with a hipped roof; foundation remnants of a saw 

mill attached to the flour mill, a cooper's shop on the opposite side of the creek, and another 

shop building, said by former owners of the mill to be a cobbler's shop located northeast of the 

mill. A remnant of the mill's headrace remains as well. Approximately VA mile southeast of the 

mill complex along the south side of Keedysville Road is a double limekiln, made of limestone. 

One of the kilns is in mins but the other one is intact, revealing its chamber with a mound of old 

burned lime at the base. In addition, there are two non-contributing buildings, both of them 

workshop/garages. This assemblage, an early-mid 19"̂  century industrial and residential 

complex with some older buildings is in excellent condition with a high level of architectural 
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integrity, although two of the main buildings, the mill and the bam have been creatively 

preserved and reused as residences. 

The Hitt's Mill complex is significant for its historical associations in the areas of Architecture, 

Industry and Military. Architecturally the collection is exemplary for a variety of construction 

systems (heavy frame, stone, log, brick), and functions used in mid Maryland in the 18'*̂  and 

19* centuries. Two houses, a bam, a mill and limekilns form the collection along with support 

buildings and structures. The main manor house, built by Robert Smith, probably in the 1790s 

reflects late Georgian influenced styling and detailing. It is a rare example of 18'̂  century timber 

framed construction in Mid-Maryland. The mill and limekilns are excellent examples of the 

agricultural based industrial architecture prevalent in mid-Maryland. The bam is a typical 

Pennsylvania Swisser bam, characteristic of the region. Flour milling was the leading industry 

in Washington County in the early 19"̂  century when Hitt's Mill was established. The dawn of 

the 19"" century brought enormous growth to Central Maryland, part of the "bread basket" of the 

country, and its primary market, Baltimore City. In addition, the complex derives historical 

significance for its association with the Civil war Battle of Antietam fought on September 17, 

1862. The main house and mill, and most likely the secondary house and bam as well were 

used as a Union field hospital after the battle. US General J.K.F. Mansfield dined in the manor 

house on the eve of the battle. He was killed the next day. After the battle, the farm served 

briefly as headquarters for Major General George Gordon Meade's division. 
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name) 

historic Hitts Mill, Pry's Mill Complex NR District 

other 

2. Location 
street and number 18932-18947 Keedysville Road not for publication 

city, town Keedysville vicinity 

county Washington 

3. Owner of Property (gives names and mailing addresses of an owners) 

name Multiple Owners 

street and number telephone 

city, town state zip code 

4. Location of LGgal DGScription 
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Washington Co. MD Courthouse liber folio 

city, town Hagerstown tax map 72 tax parcel 49,147,188 tax ID number 

5. Primary Location of Additional Data 
Contributing Resource in National Register District 

Contributing Resource in Local Historic District 

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register 

Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register 

Recorded by HABS/HAER 

Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT 

Other: NR Listed District 

6. Classification 

Category Ownersh ip Current Function Resource Count 

X district public agriculture landscape Contributing Noncontributing 

building(s) private commerce/trade recreation/culture 5 2 buildings 

structure both defense religion sites 

site X domestic social 4 structures 

object education transportation objects 

funerary work in progress 9 2 Total 

government unknown 

healthcare vacant/not in use Numberof Contributing Resources 

industry other: previously listed in the Inventory 

9_ 



7. Description Inventory No. WA-II-120 

Condition 

X excellent 

good 

fair 

deteriorated 

ruins 

altered 

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it 
exists today. 

This MIHP form updates the National Register nomination document from 1976 and individual survey forms for component 
resources in the "Hitts Mill and Houses" National Register Historic District (Hitt House, WA-II-252; Hitt's Mill, WA-II-
120). The complex lies along Keedysville Road and the Antietam Creek at the confluence with the Little Antietam Creek, 
approximately Vi mile northwest of Keedysville. This current documentation focuses upon the industrial character of the 
district. The district consists of a mid 19 century brick flour mill resting on stone foundations from a previous early 19* 
century mill that apparently burned, now converted to a residence; a timber frame late 18* century manor house with a log 
addition; a two-part log secondary house dating from the early to mid 19* century; a timber frame Swisser (bank) bam 
converted to a residence; a log smoke house with a hipped roof; foundation remnants of a saw mill attached to the flour mill, 
a cooper's shop on the opposite side of the creek, and another shop building, said by former owners of the mill to be a 
cobbler's shop located northeast of the mill. A remnant of the mill's headrace remains as well. Approximately 'A mile 
southeast of the mill complex along the south side of Keedysville Road is a double limekiln, made of limestone. One of the 
kilns is in ruins but the other one is intact, revealing its chamber with a mound of old burned lime at the base. In addition, 
there are two non-contributing buildings, both of them workshop/garages. This assemblage, an early-mid 19* century 
industrial and residential complex with some older buildings is in excellent condition with a high level of architectural 
integrity, although two of the main buildings, the mill and the bam have been creatively preserved and reused as residences. 

Hitts Mill is a five-story stone and brick building constructed as a flour mill, but converted to a residence. It dates from the 
mid 19* century, ca. 1850. The mill sits at the edge of the waters of the Little Antietam Creek, just above the point where it 
opens into the larger Antietam Creek. The mill is a rectangular building, but with intersecting gables. The east end of the 
building has a north-south gable, while the west end has an east-west gable. The mill is constructed into steeply sloped land 
which drops to the edge of the creek, causing a full story to be exposed above ground on the south elevation. This partially 
exposed ground story and the first full story of the mill are of coursed limestone construction. The upper two and a half 
stories are brick. Extending to the east from the east end of the mill are stone walls which enclosed the head race and also 
foundations of the sawmill that was once attached to the flour mill. The ground story at the south elevation and the 
adjoining foundation for the saw mill are pierced at intervals with segmental arches. Between the ground and first stories a 
series of joist pockets extends in a horizontal row. These would have supported some sort of roof extension or framework 
over the millwheel area. The stone portion of the mill was part of an earlier mill building dating from the early 19* century, 
after 1808, that may have burned and was replaced by the current brick building. (No mill is shown on Charles Varle's 1808 
Map of Frederick and Washington Counties). The brick upper stories are laid in common bond at all elevations, an indicator 
of mid 19* century workmanship. Most windows have six over six light sash set beneath wide wooden lintels, another 
indication of mid 19* century construction. Associated with the mill building are foundations from the cooper's shop across 
the creek. It was a log building and was still standing, although in ruined condition when the property was initially surveyed 
in 1976. A foundation also remains of another small support building, said by former owners to have been a cobbler's shop 
just northeast of the mill. 

Secondary Dwelling (Miller's House) Just north of the mill is a two part log house, covered with beaded wooden siding. It 
stands along the south edge of Keedysville Road and served as the miller's house for the complex. The north fafade, which 
faces onto the public road, has seven bays. The log structure is built in two parts with a central chimney separating the two 
sections. At the first story there are four bays east of the chimney and three to the west. On the south elevation, there are 
three bays in each section with the log structure above a full story raised cellar. A shed roofed porch extends across the 
entire south elevation at the main story level. At the south elevation there are entrances into each section and at the north 
elevation the facade arrangement is window, door, door, window; window, door, window. The west section of this building 
appears to be the older, dating from the early 19* century, approximately 1820s to '30s. 

Hitt House (Manor House) The main house for the complex dates from the late 18* century and predates the rest of the 
complex. It is depicted on Varle's 1808 map labeled as belonging to "R. Smith." It is a two story, five bay timber framed 
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house with brick nogging within the framework. Timber framing is a rare construction system for houses in 18 century 
Washington County, where wood framing was more typically horizontal log constmction rather than braced post and beam. 
The house stands on a bluff, facing west and overlooking the Antietam Creek. The mill complex is on the opposite side of 
Keedysville Road and due south of the main house. A two story, four bay log addition extends from the south gable end. 
The main entrance is in the center bay of the front (west) elevation. The east elevation is also formally arranged. Wooden 
replacement random width siding covers the house. The upper story and roof were severely damaged by a fire in 1989. The 
first floor staircase, woodwork and mantelpieces remain intact. A central stair and entrance passageway divides the house, 
with two rooms to the north, and one large parlor to the south. Behind and to the southeast of the house is a large log 
smokehouse with a hipped roof There is also a recently built garage/workshop northeast of the house, designed to look like 
a local Pennsylvania bank bam. 

Bam Southwest of the main house and west of the mill is a timber frame Pennsylvania type bank bam. It is situated along 
the east side of the Antietam Creek and faces north. It rests on limestone foundations with an overhanging forebay. 
Probably dating from the second quarter of the 19* century, like most bams of this type, the lower level was designed to 
shelter livestock while the upper level was for threshing and crop storage. In this bam, the lower level houses horses and the 
upper level, the threshing floor, has been creatively adapted as a residence. From the public right of way, there is no 
indication that the bam also serves as a human habitation. At the rear, bank side, however, there are numerous added 
windows and skylights. The roof covering is standing seam sheet metal. A limestone fence encloses the barnyard. A 
workshop and garage of recent vintage is located southwest of the bam. 

Limekilns To the east of the mill complex on the south edge of Keedysville Road is a double limekiln. The tops of the kilns 
are at the same approximate level as the road bed. Their south faces are exposed, following the steep slope. The front walls 
are approximately 12 feet high. One of the limekilns, the one on the west, is severely deteriorated, much of its front wall 
having fallen away. The other kiln is quite intact, revealing a curved chamber. The kilns are constmcted of dry-laid 
limestone. 

Assessment of Integrity The Hitt's Mill/Pry Mill complex retains a high level of visual integrity. Although the uses of the 
buildings and stmctures have changed, they are certainly still recognizable for their original uses. A traveler from the 19* 
century would have no difficulty recognizing the place. Some of the buildings associated with the complex are gone (the 
saw mill, cooper's shop), but the main buildings and structures remain in good condition. There are also added buildings 
which do not contribute to the historic grouping, although both of them have been designed in such a way as to blend with 
the character of the surrounding complex. These added buildings are workshops/garages which have been constmcted to 
look like typical agricultural support buildings. The district contains three separate parcels totaling approximately 35 acres. 

Resource Count 

5 contributing buildings (Main House, Secondary House, Mill, Bam, Smokehouse) 
4 contributing structures (Limekilns, Sawmill Foundation, Mill Race, Cooper Shop Foundation) 
2 non-contributing buildings (garage/workshops) 

Additional features such as limestone fences, mill dam site, road traces are considered contributing, but are not counted. 



8. Significance inventory No. W A - I I - 1 2 0 

Period 

1600-1699 

X 1700-1799 

X 1800-1899 

1900-1999 

2000-

Areas of Significance 

agriculture 

archeology 

X architecture 

art 

commerce 

communications 

community planning 

conservation 

Check and justify below 

economics 

education 

engineering 

entertainment/ 

recreation 

ethnic heritage 

exploration/ 
settlement X 

health/medicine 

industry 

invention 

landscape architecture 

law 

literature 

maritime history 

military 

performing arts 

philosophy 

politics/government 

religion 

science 

social history 

transportation 

other: 

Specific dates September, 1862 Architect/Builder 

Construction dates Ca. 1790; Ca. 1850 

Evaluation for: 

National Register Maryland Register X not evaluated 

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the 
history of the resource and its context. (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form - see manual.) 

The Hitt's Mill complex is significant for its historical associations in the areas of Architecture, Industry and Military. 
Architecturally the collection is exemplary for a variety of construction systems (heavy frame, stone, log, brick), and 
functions used in mid Maryland in the 18 and 19* centuries. Two houses, a bam, a mill and limekilns form the collection 
along with support buildings and structures. The main manor house, built by Robert Smith, probably in the 1790s reflects 
late Georgian influenced styling and detailing. It is a rare example of 18* century timber framed construction in Mid-
Maryland The mill and limekilns are excellent examples of the agricultural based industrial architecture prevalent in mid-
Maryland. The bam is a typical Pennsylvania Swisser bam, characteristic of the region. Flour milling was the leading 
industry in Washington County in the early 19* century when Hitt's Mill was established. The dawn of the 19* century 
brought enormous growth to Central Maryland, part of the "bread baskef' of the country, and its primary market, Baltimore 
City. According to Susan Winter Frye, "By 1810 Maryland had become the third largest flour-producing state in the nation 
behind Pennsylvania and Virginia. Washington County was the state's foremost county in terms of the value of its flour 
mills and the number of barrels of flour produced by these mills."' An 1831 editorial in the Hagerstown newspaper the 
Torchlight and Public Advertiser numbers the flour mills of Washington County as "upwards of sixty-four," saying "...it is 
believed that we send annually to market 130,000 bbls. Being about one fifth of all the flour inspected in Baltimore."^ In 
addition, the complex derives historical significance for its association with the Civil war Battle of Antietam fought on 
September 17, 1862. The main house and mill, and most likely the secondary house and bam as well were used as a Union 
field hospital after the battle. US General J.K.F. Mansfield dined in the manor house on the eve of the battle. He was killed 
the next day. After the battle, the farm served briefly as headquarters for Major General George Gordon Meade's division.' 

Historical Context See "Historic Industry in Mid-Maryland" prepared for the Maryland Historical Trust through 
the Catoctin Center for Regional Studies, 2002-2003. 

Property History Operating as a flour mill with an attached sawmill, the Hitt's Mill/Pry's Mill complex is important as an 
example of this industry in Washington County. The mill was in operation until 1926. The history of this complex begins 
with the ownership of Robert Smith. Smith was a member of a prominent early family in the Antietam Valley who acquired 
land along the creek prior to 1750. Eventually the family owned some 4,000 acres patented as "Smith's Hills." Robert 
Smith was a member of the State Legislature firom 1800 to 1805. The 1808 Charles Varle Map of Frederick and 
Washington Counties shows R. Smith with a dwelling house on the site of the present main house. When he died, Robert 
Smith left his four farms to his grand nephew, Samuel M. Hitt (Washington County Will Liber C, Folio 54). The will was 
probated October 18, 1818. Two years later Hitt had a confirmatory deed created to verify title to the portion of the property 
that was improved with the flour mill. On March 7, 1820, a deed was made by Joseph Chapline which stated that Chapline 
had at an earlier date agreed to convey a tract of land containing 20.25 acres (the acreage of the mill tract) to Andrew Baker. 
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Subsequently Baker agreed to convey the land to Robert Smith, who willed it to Samuel M. Hitt. Hitt established the 
original mill in this location (Washington County Land Records, Deed Liber EE, Folio 487). This parcel was not part of 
Smith's Hills, but instead was parts of four other tracts. 

During ownership of the Hitts, the property remained together. By 1846, the Hitts had moved west to Ogle County Illinois 
and the property was subdivided with the 20.25-acre mill tract eventually fransferring to Samuel and Philip Pry, builders of 
the current mill, and the rest of the farm with the manor house and bam to Samuel Cost. On August 7, 1846, Samuel M. and 
Barbara Hitt sold the 20.25 acre mill property to Lewis Watson for $6,137.75 (Deed Liber IN3, Folio 71). This is a 
substantial sum indicating that the mill was a valuable industrial property. A little over a year later, Watson sold the mill 
property to the Pry brothers on December 16, 1847 (Deed Liber INS, Folio 73). The mill property descended through the 
Pry family until 1941. Thr Prys built the present mill and the newer part of the log miller's house and most likely the 
limekilns as well. In 1844 Philip Pry built a large brick farmhouse and farmstead buildings on land adjacent to the west of 
the mill property. 

Ten days after Samuel M. Hitt conveyed the mill parcel, he sold the remainder of the farm containing 130. 75 acres on 
August 17, 1846 to Samuel Cost for $5,199. This too is a substantial sum, reflecting the value of the manor dwelling, but 
less than the mill on its 20-acre piece brought. The mill and main house properties have been conveyed separately ever 
since. The log addition on the main house was probably already in place before the Costs acquired the farm, and the bam 
probably was as well. The farm remained in the Cost family until 1886 when Jacob H. Cost sold it to Jacob C. and Barbara 
H. Rohrer (Deed Liber 88, Folio 23). The farm was eventually subdivided in 1979 and the main house and bam were 
separated. The remainder of the farmland is now a low density residential development. 

Samuel M. Hitt, developer of the mill complex was also influential in the constmction of a stone bridge erected over the 
Antietam creek in 1830 to facilitate access to his mill. In an Article of Agreement recorded among the Washington County 
Land Records (Liber LL, Folio 350) between the Justices of the Levy Court (predecessors of the County Commissioners), 
and Samuel M. Hitt, dated March 15, 1830, Hitt agreed to repair the road from the bridge to be built by Silas Harry to the 
summit of the hill toward Hess's Mill in Keedysville. The road referenced in this agreement was shortly thereafter changed 
to its present course miming much closer to the mill, as depicted in a plat recorded on May 6, 1833 in Volume I, folio 196 of 
the Washington County Road records. This road and bridge system is discussed in MIHP form WA-II-1173, "Keedysville 
Road." The importance of the road and the road's change in route to accommodate the mill is additional evidence of the 
irr^ortance of the grain processing industry in Washington County and the surrounding region. 

The conplex also was important as a hospital, encampment and headquarters site during the Battle of Antietam. The mill 
also figured prominently for this use. A large open indusfrial building was an ideal hospital shelter and the mill's supply of 
grain and flour were a source of food for the occupying army and their animals. The Hitt Mill complex was also at an 
established crossing point of the Antietam Creek. The Sanitary commission, however, reported that the hospital at the mill 
complex was poorly managed and that the surgeons were young and frequently intoxicated."* The main house, mill and bam 
were hospitals. 
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WA-II-120, Hitt's Mill Complex. Ca. 1925 view of miller's house and Hitt manor house (center, behind trees). 
Courtesy Kathleen Riley and William Maharay. 
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WA-ll-120, Hitt's Mill Complex. Ca. 1925 view of Hitt's Mill and sawmill. Courtesy Kathleen Riley and William 
Maharay. 
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10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of surveyed property Approximately 35 

Acreage of historical setting Approximately 35 

Quadrangle name Keedysville Quadrangle scale 1:24,000 

Verbal boundary description and justification 

The recorded property includes three separate parcels, all historically part of the Hitt's Mill Complex. The are shown on Tax Map # 
72, Parcel 147 and Parcel 190-1, the manor house; Parcel 188, the bam; and Parcel 49, the mill lot. The mill lot parcel has retained 
the same acreage (20.25) since before 1818. This acreage is historically associated with the mill complex. The remainder of the 
land associated with the Hitt'Cost farm has been subdivided for large lot residential development. 

11. Form Prepared by 

name/title Paula S. Reed, PhD., Architectural Historian and Edie Wallace, Historian 

organization Paula S. Reed & Associates, Inc. date July 2003 

street & nunnber 105 N. Potomac Street telephone 301-739-2070 

city or town Hagerstown state Maryland 

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created by an Act of the Maryland 
Legislature to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 
1974 supplement. 

The survey and Inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only 
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights. 

retum to: Maryland Historical Trust 
DHCD/DHCP 
100 Community Place 
Crownsville, MD 21032-2023 
410-514-7600 
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" John W. Schildt, Drums Along the Antietam. (Parsons, WV: McClain Printing Co., 1972, p. 167. 
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DESCRIPTION WA-II-120 

C O N D I T I O N 

3LEXCEILENT _ D E T E R I 0 R A 7 E D 

X.GOOD _RUINS 

_FAIR _UNEXPOSED 

CHECK ONE 

_UNAL"rERED 

XALTEREO 50% 

CHECK ONE 

^ORIGINAL SITE 

_ M O V E O DATE-

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Hitt's Mill is located south of the Keedysville-Bakersville Road, on the Little 
Antietam Creek, near the point where it joins the Antietam in the vicinity of Keedys-
ville in Washington County, Maryland. It is situated on the north hank of the creek. 

The mill is a five-story stone and hrick structure built as a grist mill and now 
used as an antique shop. The ground story which is exposed on the south or creek side 
and the first full story above ground level are constructed of coursed limestone. The 
upper stories are built of bricks laid in common bond at all elevations. Stone foun-
'dations extend to the east of the mill along the edge of the creek. An outline of a 
gable from an adjoining structure said to have been a sawmill can he seen on the east 
elevation of the mill. 

I 
I 

The ground story level of the south elevation and the adjoining foundations are 
pierced at intervals with segmentally arched openings. The arches are supported by 
carefully cut stone voussoirs. Between the ground and main stories of the stone 
portion of the mill are a series of square openings in the wall which apparently held 
joists or supports for some sort of attached structure. The stone portion was part of 
an earlier Tiiill which ŵ as replaced by the present brick structure. 

Windows in the mill have six-over-six pane double hung sash. Large wooden lintels 
p the windows and door in the brick section. 

The wood shingle roof, barge boards and cornice are modem, having been replaced 
during restoration of the mill in 1972. Just upstream from the mill'are the remains of 
the dam which regulated the flow of water to the structure. 

Immediately across the Little Antietam Creek from the mill are the ruins of a 
small log house with a stone and brick flue inside its north gable end. Foundations 
of a structure said to have been a cobbler's shop are also located near the mill. 

Old deeds for this property refer to a ŵ agon road which crossed the Little Antie­
tam Creek below the mill. Other references are made to the road leading from the 
Monroe School house, which presumably stood on Monroee Road, to Hitt's Mill. 

Just north of the mill building is a two-story, six-bay log dwelling sheathed 
with weatherboarding. It is situated on sloping ground along the south side of the 
Keedysville-Bakersville Road. The dwelling rests on limestone foundations which 
become nearly a full story in height at the south elevation. Stone piers perpendicular 
to the foundation walls support a one-story porch extending along the entire south 
elevation. 

The dwelling is a two-part structure, c'ivided by an interior vail of log construe 
tion. Windows and doors in both sections of the house are aligned with each other, 
although they are not spaced synnietrically in the walls. Windows have narrow frames 
hich hold six-over-six pane sash. 

Entrances are located in the second and fifth bays from the west end of the 
house at both the north and south elevations. Original doors have six low relief 
panels and are hung below three-light transoms. 

see continuation sheet #1 
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DESCRIPTION, continued 

The roof is covered with sheet metal and terminates with barge boards set 
directly against the end walls. Plain boxing finishes the eaves. A brick chimney 
protrudes from the interior of the house at the juncture of the two sections. 

The interior of the dwelling displays woodwork from different periods with 
that of the west section appearing earlier in style than that in the eastern 
portion. 

In the north foundation wall of the cellar is a broad arch covering a recess 
in the wall about three feet in depth. The purpose of this arched recess has not 
been determined. 

* '' 

The main house for the mill complex is located on the north side of the 
Keedysville-Bakersville Road, immediately north of the log dwelling. The Hitt 
House is situated on gently sloping ground rising above Antietam Creek and faces 
est. 

The house is a two-story, five-bay log dwelling set on low fieldstone found-
dations. Attached to its south gable wall is a two-story, four-bay wing lower in 
height than the main section. The walls of both sections are sheathed with 
German siding and composition brick. Some older weatherboarding finished with 
a bead at the lower edge can also be seen. 

Windows of both sections have very wide frames with quarter round trim. All 
original sash have been replaced with two-over-two pane double hung windows. 
Openings in the foundations of the south wing have narrow wooden frames. 

The main entrance is located in the center bay of the front or west elevation. 
It is framed similarly to the windows and holds a door with six raised panels under 
a simple four-light transom. Other doors have similar treatment. A second door; 
in the main section is located in the center bay of the east or rear elevation. 
Doors in the south wing are located in the front and rear elevations. A one-story, 
shed-roofed porch extends across the front elevation of the main section and part 
of the wing. At the rear of the wing is a broad, one-story porch. 

The roof of each section is covered with modern asphalt shingles and terminates 
with tapered barge boards set directly against the end walls. Large brick chinneys 
with corbels at their tops are located inside each gable end. A portion of the 
flue at the south gable end of the main section protrudes from the exterior surface 

the end wall, an unusual feature which may be the result of rebuilding of the 
imney. Plain boxing finishes the eaves. 

see continuation sheet #2 
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DESCRIPTION, continued 
'" . 

Just south of the house is a square log outbuilding with a hipped roof 
covered with wooden shingles. Southwest of the house is a large frame bank 
barn and part of a fieldstone barnyard fence. 

Several hundred feet north of the house is evidence of an old road which 
predated the present Keedysville-Bakersville Road between the Antietam Creek 
and Keedysville. 

Approximately one-half mile east of the mill complex along the edge of 
the road is a stone lime kiln. Also nearby are two stone arch bridges, the 
historic Hitt Bridge and the smaller Pry's Mill Bridge. (None of these are 
included in this nomination.) 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The Hitt's Mill complex is significant for its architecture and its contribution 
to local commerce and the milling industry. It is also important for its association 
with the nearby Civil War battle of Antietam and for social and humanitarian concerns 
since the mill and the Hitt house served as hospitals during and after the battle. 
The complex is significant, additionally, for its association with the Hitt family. 
Three brothers, Martin, Daniel and Samuel, all ministers, were influential in the 
development of Methodism in the early republic. Samuel M. Hitt, son of Martin, 
established the mill, an important commercial establishment, at this site in the early 
19th century. 

Architecturally, the Hitt's Mill complex represents the three major construction 
-aditions in the Cumberland Valley and Western Maryland with the use of log, stone 

'-̂ d brick in the buildings present. Log as employed in the dwellings was an important 
construction material popular from the earliest days of settlement in the 18th century 
to the early 20th century. The Hitt House is interesting as a relatively large 
example of log construction in Washington County. Although the exact building date 
of this structure has not been determined, it would appear to date from the late 18th 
century or very early 19th century. A large dwelling is depicted on this site on 
an 1808 map of Frederick and Washington Counties compiled by Charles Varle. The 
house is shown on the map as being in the possession of R. Smith. According to primary 
and secondary sources, Robert Smith willed his four farms to his grandnephew, Samuel 
M. Hitt (Will C/54). This will was probated October 18, 1818. The Varle map 
Robert Smith at the location of this house suggests that of the four farms he owned 
this one was his home. Smith was a member of a prominent early family in the Antietam 
Valley. Prior to 1750, the Smith family acquired land along the creek. Toward the 
end of the century, they held several thousand acres of land, some of which is encom­
passed in farms along I-Ianor Church Road and the Sharpsburg-Keedysville Road. Robert 
Smith, presumed to be the son of settler James Smith, was a member of the State Legis­
lature from 1800 until 1805. 

The other log house in this nomination, on the south side of the road, was built 
in two parts. The interior woodwork of the western portion suggests a construction 
date during the second quarter of the 19th century, while that employed in the eastern 
portion is of a type associated with the later 19th century. 

Stone construction was employed in the lower stories of the mill. The masonry 
k appears to be of high quality, particularly as seen in the arch construction 

..--ard the base of the south wall. Samuel M. Hitt operated a mill on this property 
during the early 19th century. It is not known, however, when the stone portion of 
the structure was built. A mill is not depicted on this site on Varle's 1808 nap. 
The upper stories of the mill were added later, after part of the original structure 
was destroyed by fire. This brick portion appears to date from the mid-19th century. 
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued 

Operating as a grist mill, presumably with an attached sawmill, the Hitt's 
or Pry's Millccomplex is important for its contribution to coinmerce and to the 
milling industry in Washington County. Grist milling was an important early 
industry in the area, providing a means for local farmers to process their grain 
products. Sawmills were also numeroud. As well as being trade centers, the mills 
served a social function as meeting places where information was exchanged. The 
mill was in operation until 1926. 

Throughout their documentary history, the mill property and that across the 
road containing the main house have always been conveyed separately. The earliest 
documented record of the mill property is the will of Robert Smith (see above). 
It states that Samuel Merritt Hitt, Smith's grandnephew, was to inherit the 
residue of his great-uncle's estate. Later on March 7, 1820, Hitt's ownership 
was confirmed by a deed from Joseph Chapline (Deed EE/A87), which stated that 
Chapline had at an earlier date agreed to convey a tract of land containing 20 1/A 
acres (the acreage of the mill property throughout all the deeds) to a certain 
Andrew Baker. Subsequently Baker agreed to convey the land to Robert Smith, who 
had in turn willed it to Samuel M. Hitt. Presumbaly it was Hitt who established 
the original mill. 

i 

Samuel Hitt was influential in the construction of a stone bridge erected 
over Antietam Creek in 1830 to facilitate access to his mill. In an Article of 
Agreement recorded among the Washington County Land Records (LL/350), between 
Justices of the Levy Court and Samuel M. Hitt, dated March 15, 1830, Hitt agreed 
to repair the road from the bridge to be built by Silas Harry to the summit of 
the hill toward Hess' Mill in Keedysville. The road described in the agreement 
was shortly thereafter changed to its present course as depicted in a plat recorded 
May 6, 1833, in Volume I, folio 196, of the Washington County Road Records. The 
earlier road, which led directly east from the bridge^is said to have been that 
used by General Braddock in 1755 on his trip west to Fort Duquesne during the 
French and Indian War. 

On August 7, 1846, Samuel M. and Barbara Hitt^who had previously moved to 
Ogle County, Illinois, sold two tracts, including the 20 1/4 acre mill property, 
to Lewis Watson for $6,137.75(IN3/71). Samuel Pry and Philip Pr^ purchased the 
mill property from Watson and his wife on December 16, 1847 (IN3/73). The mill 
property remained in the Pry family until 1941 (IN5/298, 115/383, 135/38, 173/307, 
173/308, 217/131). The 20 1/4 acre property included parts of the grants 
ĵ 'Addition to Bunell's Bower," "Resurvey of Felfoot Enlarged," "Resurvey of Hills 
nd Dales" and "The Vineyard." 

On August 17, 1846, the Hitts sold their farm across the road from the mill, 
containing 130 3/4 acres, to Samuel Cost for $5,199 (IN3/69). Samuel Cost owned 

see continuation sheet #4 
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued 

this farm (which includes the Hitt House) during the Battle of Antietam which 
occurred on Septermber 17, 1862. In addition to having nuiuerouS Federal troops 
stationed in the area and to being a major crossing point of the Antietam Creek, 
the Hitt house and barn were also used as hospitals during and after the battle. 
Doctor Wilcox established a hospital in the Hitt barn for several hundred soldiers, 
while approximately twenty-five troops were treated in the parlor of the house. 
On October A after the battle, the remaining wounded soldiers were moved to the 
Smoketow-n hospital, located approximately one mile northwest of the Hitt farm. 
On the eve of the battle, September 16, General J.K.F, Mansfield dined at the 
Hitt house. After the battle, the farm served briefly as headquarters for General 
George Gordon Meade. ,. 

The farm remained in the Cost family until 1886, when Jacob H. Cost sold it 
to Jacob C. and Barbara A. Rohrer (88/23). It was held by the Rohrer family 
itil 1945 (229/201), The farm was purchased by the present owners in 196A. 
\e land includes parts of the grants "Resurvey on Felfoot Enalrged," "Red Oak 

Level," "Vineyard," and "Resurvey on Hills Dales and the Vineyard." 

The mill property was owned by the Pry family during the Battle of Antietam. 
The mill was also used as a hospital for federal troops. The Sanitary Commission 
reported that this hospital was poorly managed and that the surgeons were young 
and frequently intoxicated (Schildt, p. 167). According to local legend, women 
of the Pry family baked bread for the wounded soldiers. 
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ABSTRACT 
WA-II-120 
Pry's Mill Early 19th Century 
Keedysvllle Vicinity 
private 

The Pry's Mill Complex consists of a five story 
stone and brick Grist Mill sittiated on the bank of the 
Little Antletam Creek near Its Junction with the Antletam, 
also present are the remnants of a Saw Mill and the Mill 
dam. North of the Mill building Is a log dwelling sheathed 
with weatherboardlng. This house is significant for its 
architecture. It is also Important for its association 
with the early milling Industry In Washington County. 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Pry's Mill Is located south of the Keedysvllle-Bakersvllle Road, on the Little Antletam 
Creek near the point where It Joins the Antletam In the vicinity of Keedysvllle in 
Washington County, Maryland. It Is situated on the north bank of the Creek. 

The Mill Is a five story stone and brick structure built as a grist mill and now used as 
an antique shop. The ground story which is exposed on the south or Creek side elevation 
and the first full story above ground level are constructed of coursed limestone. The 
upper stories are built of bricks laid in common bond at all elevations. Stone foundations 
extend to the east of the Mill along the edge of the Creek. An outline of a gable from 
an adjoining structure said to have been a sawoalll can be seen on the east elevation of ' 
the Mill. 

The ground story level of the south elevation and the adjoining foundations are pierced at 
Intervals with segmentally arched openings. The arches are supported by carefully cut 
stone voussoirs. Between the ground and main stories of the stone portion of the Mill are 
a series of square openings in the wall which apparently held joists or supports for some 
sort of attached structure. The stone portion was part of an earlier mill which was re­
placed by the present brick structure. 

Windows in the Mill have six over six pane double hung sashes, 
the windows and doors in the brick section. 

Large wooden lintels top 

The wood shingle roof, barge boards and cornice are modern having been replaced during^ 
restoration of the Mill. Just upstream from the Mill are the remains of the dam which' 
regulated the flow of water to the structure. 

Immediately across the Little Antletam Creek from the Mill are the ruins of a small log 
house with a stone and brick flue inside its north gable end. Foundations of a structure 
said to have been a cobblers shop are also located near the Mill. 

Old deeds for this property refer to a wagon road which crossed the Little Antletam Creek 
below the Mill. Other references are made to the road leading from the Monroe School house, 
which presumably stood on Monroe Road, to Hitt's Mill. 

Just north of the Mill building is a two story, six bay log dwelling sheathed with weather-
boarding. It is situated on sloping ground along the south side of the 
Keedysvllle-Bakersvllle Road. The dwelling rests on limestone foundations which become . 
nearly a full story in height at the south elevation. Stone piers perpendicular to the * 
foundation walls siq>port a one story porch extending along the entire south elevation. 

The dwelling Is a two part structure, divided by an Interior wall of log construction. 
Windows and doors in both sections of the house are aligned with each other although they 
are not spaced symmetrically in the walls. Windows have narrow frames which hold six over 
six pane sashes. 

Entrances are located in the second and fifth bays from the west end of the house at both 
the north and south elevations. Original doors have six low relief panels and are hung 
below three light transoms. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY (Continued) 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The Pry's Mill Complex Is significant for its architecture and Its contribution to local 
commerce and the milling Industry. It Is also Important for Its association with the nearby 
Civil War Battle of Antletam and for social and Humanitarian concerns since the Mill served 
as a hospital during and after the Battle. The complex Is significant, additionally, for Its 
association with the Hltt family. Three brothers, Martin, Daniel and Samuel, all ministers 

were Influential In the development of Methodism In the early republic. Samuel M. Hltt, 
son of Martin, established this Mill. 

Architecturally the Pry's Mill Complex represents the three major construction traditions 
in the Cumberland Valley and Western Maryland with the use of log, stone and brick in the 
buildings present. Log as en^loyed in the dwelling was an Important construction material 
popular from the earliest days of settlement In the 18th century to the early 20th century. 
The interior woodwork of the western portion of this house suggests a construction date 
dji^ng the second quarter of the 19th century while that employed In the eastern portion is 
d^Pi type associated with the later 19th century. 

Stone construction was eiq>loyed In the lower stories of the Mill. The masonry work appears 
to be of high quality particularly as seen in the arch construction toward the base of the 
south wall. Samuel M. Hltt operated a Mill on this property during the early 19th century. 
It is not known, however, when the stone portion of the structure was built. A mill is not 
depicted on this site on Charles Varle's 1808 map of Frederick and Washington Counties. 
The upper stories of the Mill were added after part of the original structure was destroyed 
by fire. The brick portion appears to date from the mid 19th century. 

Operating as a grist mill, prestnnably with an attached sawmill, the Pry's Mill or Hitt's 
Mill complex is inportant for its contribution to commerce and to the milling Industry in 
Washington County. Grist milling was an Important early Industry in the area, providing 
a means for local farmers to process their grain products. Sawmills were also numerous. 
Ais well as being trade centers, the mills served a social function as meeting places where 
information was exchanged. The Mill was in operation until 1926. 

Throughout its documentary history, the Mill property contained 20 1/4 acres. It has always 
been conveyed separately from the property on which stands the main dwelling known as Hltt or 
Cost house, located north of the Keedysvllle-Bakersville Road. The earliest documented recort 
of the Mill property is the will of Robert Smith which was probated October 28, 1818 (Liber C, 
Polio 54). It states that Samuel Merritt Hltt, Smith's grand nephew, was to inherit the re­
sidue of his great-uncle's estate. Later on March 7, 1820, Samuel Hitt's ownership was con­
firmed by a deed from Joseph Chapllne (Liber EE, Polio 487) which stated that Joseph Chapllne 
had at an earlier date agreed to convey a tract of land containing 20 1/4 acres to a certain 
y^^ew Baker. Subsequently Baker agreed to convey the 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY (Continued) 
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The roof Is sheathed with sheet metal and terminates with barge boards set directly 
against the end walls. Plain boxing finishes the eaves. A brick chimney protrudes 
from the Interior of the house at the Jointure of the two sections. 

The Interior of the dwelling displays woodwork from different periods with that of 
the west section appearing earlier In style than that employed In the eastern portion. 

In the north foundation wall of the cellar Is a broad arch covering a recess In the 
wall about three feet In depths The purpose of this arched recess has not been deter­
mined. 

The main house for the Mill complex Is located on the north side of the Keedysvllle-
Bakersvllle Road and Is considered separately on form WA-11-252. Approximately one 
half mile east of the Mill complex along the edge of the road Is a stone lime kiln. 
Also nearby are two stone arch bridges, the historic Hltt Bridge, WA-11-122 and the 
smaller Pry's Mill Bridge, WA-II-121. 

The Mill Is In excellent condition; the log dwelling Is In fair to good condition 
and Is at present undergoing restoration. The property on which these buildings are 
located Includes 20.25 acres. 
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land to Robert Sknlth who had, in turn willed it to Samuel M. Hitt. Presumably it was 
Samuel Hitt who established the original mill. 

On August 7, 1846, Samuel M. Hitt and Barbara Hitt of Ogle County, Illinois., sold two 
tracts including the 20 1/4 acre mill property to Lewis Watson for $6,137.75 (Liber IN3, 
Folio 71). Samuel Pry and Hiilip Pry piirchased the mill property from Lewis Watson and 
Elizabeth Watson on December 16, 1847 (Liber IN3, Folio 73). The mill property remained 
in the Pry family until 1941 (IN5/298, 115/383, 135/38, 173/307, 173/308, 217/131). The 
20 1/4 acre property included parts of the grants "Addition to Bunell's Bower," "Resurvey 
of Felfoot Enlarged," "Resurvey of Hills and Dales" and "The Vineyard," 

Samuel M. Hitt was influential in the construction of a stone bridge erected over the 
Antietam Creek to facilitate access to his Mill. In an Article of Agreement recorded 
among the Washington County Land Records (LL/350), between the Justices of the Levy Court 
and Samuel M. Hitt, dated March 15, 1830, Hitt agreed to repair the road from the bridge 
to be built by Silas Harry to the summit of the hill toward Hess's Mill which was in 
Reedysville. The road described in the agreement was shortly thereafter changed to its 
present course as depicted in a plat recorded May 6, 1833 in Volume I, Folio 196 of the 
Washington County Road Records. The earlier road which led directly east from the bridge 
is said to have been that used by General Braddock in 1755 on his trip west to Fort Duquesne 
during the French and Indian War, 

Robert Smith, who bequeathed the mill property to Samuel M. Hitt was a member of a prominent 
early family in the Antietam Valley. Prior to 1750, the Sknith family had acquired land 
along the Creek. Toward the end of the 18th century they held several thousand acres of 
land. Robert Smith, son of settler James Sknith, was a member of the State Legislature from 
1800-1805, 

During the ownership of the Pry family, the mill property was the scene of activity during 
the Battle of Antietam in September of 1862. In addition to having numerous troops stationed 
in the area and being at a major crossing point of the Antietam Creek, the Pry's Mill was 
used as a hospital for federal troops. The Sanitary Commission reported that this hospital 
was poorly managed and that the surgeons were young and frequently intoxicated,^ According 
to local legend women of the Pry family baked bread for the wounded soldiers. 

John W, Schildt, Drums Along The Antietam. Parsons, W. Va: McClain 
Printing Company (1972) p. 167. 
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